

# The Impact of Corruption on Business Development of Small and Medium Enterprises in Kazakhstan

by

Yerassyl Serikbay, Zarina Syzdykova, and Danna Tyo

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements
for the Degree of

Master in Public Policy

at

Nazarbayev University Nur-Sultan, Kazakhstan April 2022

#### **ABSTRACT**

Corruption literature has long debated the influence of corruption on the business performance of small- and medium-sized entrepreneurs (SMEs), suggesting that corruption can either "grease the wheels" or "sand the wheels" of local businesses. Using the World Bank BEEPS data for 2009, 2013, and 2019, and semi-structured interviews with Kazakhstani SME owners, we investigate the impact of corruption on SME performance, particularly sales and employment growth, and identify how Kazakhstani SME owners perceive corruption while running their enterprises. Our first contribution is that in support of the "sand the wheels" theory, research findings show that corruption decreases sales and employment growth worldwide. In the case of Kazakhstani SMEs, even though the relationship between corruption and sales and employment growth remains ambiguous, it is possible to start and grow an enterprise in Kazakhstan without corruption. Our second contribution shows that Kazakhstani SME owners do not perceive corruption as a severe obstacle for running an enterprise. More broadly, we find out that corruption perception is biased; it is largely influenced by the collective distrust for the government and varies with the role of the government, whether it is a service provider or a client. This study concludes that Kazakhstan does well in tackling corruption at the SME level but falls short of statelevel corruption.

*Keywords*: Corruption, Small and Medium Enterprises, Grease the Wheels, Sand the Wheels, Corruption Perception

## **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

This research was much supported by the Faculty Staff of Graduate School of Public Policy, Nazarbayev University. We would like to extend our warmest thanks to our research supervisor Dr. Iftikhar Ahmad Lodhi for his constructive criticism and suggestions for improving our project. We would also like to thank Anna Chung for her support and assistance with the guidelines for the project. Our gratitude also goes to Dr. Serik Orazgaliyev and Dr. Kanat Abdulla for their assistance in providing us with the necessary reading materials and tools to improve the research framework.

And surely, this project would not have been possible without the support of our family members and friends.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	v
GLOSSARY OF TERMS	vi
INTRODUCTION	1
LITERATURE REVIEW	4
Corruption and Enterprises	4
Theoretical Evidence	4
Empirical Evidence	6
RESEARCH METHODS	12
Conceptual Model and Hypothesis	13
FINDINGS	15
Summary of Findings from the Regression Analysis	16 17 19
Summary of Findings from Semi-Structured Interviews	21
DISCUSSION	27
POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS	30
RESEARCH LIMITATIONS	33
CONCLUSION	34
REFERENCES	36
APPENDIX A	42
Khan's Framework (Khan et al., 2019)	42

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Description of variables	16
Table 2. Summary statistics of variables for all countries and Kazakhstan	17
Table 3. Results for sales growth	19
Table 4. Results for employment growth	20

# **GLOSSARY OF TERMS**

Abbreviation	Definition
BEEPS	Business Environment and Enterprise Performance Survey
СРІ	Corruption Perception Index
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GEM	Global Entrepreneurship Monitor
SME	Small and Medium Enterprise

#### INTRODUCTION

Corruption has long been a subject of popular discourse and academic work, and the reasons for this are twofold. First, corruption is found in all countries and across both public and private institutions (Myint, 2000). Second, corruption intervenes in the course of economic development and investment and alters the distribution of public resources to benefit private interests (Transparency International, 2014). From different definitions and categorizations of corruption, the general agreement among scholars is that corruption is an abuse of power vested in government officials for private gains (Drury et al., 2006). Under this definition, any behavior that deviates from official functions and duties of government officials or that violates the public interests in favor of private interests is automatically considered corrupt activity (Rose-Ackerman, 1978). Kurer's definition of corruption goes a step further to suggest that corruption is foremost the breaking of the impartiality principle, by which public officials take into account personal relationships or affiliations while making their decisions (Kurer in Rothstein, 2011).

Most recent approaches in the corruption literature suggest that corruption is a bad thing, which bears a huge cost per country. Corruption costs represent tangible economic costs, calculated in terms of the corruption damage to economic growth and investment like GDP and GDP per capita decline, and these also include intangible social and political damages to the country (Myint, 2000), namely, the impact of corruption on quality of governance or stability of the regime (Avnimelech et al., 2011). Clearly, corrupt practices undermine the citizen's confidence in the government and damage the legitimacy of national institutions and collective welfare (Zimelis, 2020).

Corruption scandals also damage the functioning of local entrepreneurship and enterprise creation in the country (Avnimelech et al., 2011). First, corruption impedes enterprises from creating a competitive advantage to turn into high-performing enterprises because it distorts the distribution of enterprise assets and instead, "creates competitive disadvantages like enterprise inefficiency" (Osuagwu, 2012, p. 23). Corruption also incurs additional costs and losses to the enterprise owners because when confronted with corrupt officials, enterprise owners need to redirect their funds from enterprise development to bribe payments. As more and more enterprises are unable to make enough payments to corrupt

officials, many of them may take no other decision but to exit the market; consequently, we will see a fewer number of enterprises on the market and reduced competition among enterprise owners (Dvoulety & Blazkova, 2018). Corruption in the enterprise sector may also reduce public confidence in the enterprise and divert investments from it leaving the enterprise owners with fewer clients and partners (Avnimelech et al., 2011). In doing so, corruption may then cut the incentives of enterprise owners to develop their enterprise in the long-term and urge them to exit the market (Dvoulety & Blazkova, 2018).

In pointing out the effects of corruption, corruption literature reveals that corruption has both negative and positive consequences for enterprise development. As for the positive corruption effect, many advocate for the so-called "grease the wheels" hypothesis, by which corruption facilitates economic growth and contributes to economic efficiency (Budak & Rajh, 2011). This theoretical reasoning suggests that corruption benefits the economy and business development once it is spread in a country with weak institutional effectiveness and poor governance (Meon & Sekkat, 2005) just because it helps avoid the inefficiencies of weak institutional systems and speed up the processes for the business environment to work smoothly (Campos et al., 2010).

Just because corruption has a strong influence over the performance of small and medium enterprises (SMEs), a large mechanism that drives economic growth in the country (Obi et al., 2018), it is here where enterprise development becomes of a larger concern to the countries. Indeed, SMEs are an important sector of the national economy at least because it creates many employment opportunities, contributes to the national tax base, and drives innovation and research. To define SMEs, in Kazakhstan, the National Statistics Agency defines small and medium enterprises as businesses that have no more than 50 and 250 employees (Sarybay, n.d.), respectively, and specialize in a narrow range of goods and services for production (Ayandibu & Houghton, 2017). In 2014, SMEs accounted for 17.5% of Kazakhstan's Gross Domestic Product (GDP) and provided roughly 2.5 million jobs across the country (Sarybay, n.d.). These figures are growing, making SMEs an important contributor to the private sector that requires government assistance.

Traditional explanations of corruption still largely neglect the study of the consequences of corruption on SME development, particularly in the Kazakhstani context. Though, the

abundance of arguments for and against corruption in the enterprise environment and the important role of SMEs in the economy suggest that there is a high practical utility in discussing the corruption impacts on SMEs. As such, while enterprises grow, their owners face a list of challenges to cope with, and one of the main barriers is corruption in the enterprise environment. In particular, enterprises encounter corruption committed at the low- and mid-level of the government that forces business owners to pay out funds to the government officials to get their approval in the form of permits or registrations to keep their enterprises operating (Lambert-Mogiliansky et al., 2007). Kazakhstani government officials also recognize that the major threat to enterprise growth is indeed corruption; there is a common practice of lobbying activity at the low- and mid-level of the government to accomplish business goals and ambitions (Suleimenova et al., 2018). As of 2021, the Corruption Perception Index (CPI) in Kazakhstan was ranked the 102nd among 180 countries and got a score of 37 out of 100 (Transparency International, n.d.). Perhaps, a fertile ground for a high corruption level in Kazakhstan is the shadow economy; most SMEs tend to work informally, outside the regulatory system, which makes it hard to regulate (Satpayev, 2014).

Taking Kazakhstan as a case study, this research paper aims to study the influence of corruption on the business performance of SMEs and corruption perception among Kazakhstani enterprise owners. Based on this, the first research question to address is how corruption influences business performance worldwide and in Kazakhstan, particularly enterprise sales and employment growth. The second is how Kazakhstani enterprise owners perceive corruption while running their enterprises. Here, we argue that enterprise owners consider corruption a significant barrier to starting and growing an enterprise in Kazakhstan.

This study is structured as follows. The first section introduces the theories advocating for both positive ("grease the wheels" theory) and negative ("sand the wheels" theory) effects of corruption on enterprise performance used throughout the paper. The second section describes the methodology and hypotheses used in this paper. It then goes on to describe the findings from our quantitative research and semi-structured interviews, followed by a discussion of the main findings. The next section then combines policy recommendations and presents conclusions drawn from the findings.

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

## **Corruption and Enterprises**

The existing literature demonstrates that there is little consensus on the generally accepted definition of the term "corruption" because it takes many forms and characteristics to share. To take it broadly, corruption is usually perceived as an abuse of power or wealth to influence the decision-making process for personal gain and benefits (Mashali, 2012). As Mashali (2012) noted, corruption is pervasive in both the public sector and private sector, and both political and bureaucratic offices might get involved in the corruption process. The current paper is focused on the corruption that arises in the public sector to demonstrate how government officials might disrupt the decision-making process to secure the gain for small- and medium-sized SMEs owners.

Ogundiya et al. (2011) mentioned that corruption is different from the grease payments that arise in the political and bureaucratic offices. While corruption involves payments made for extra services, grease payments are conversely the payments made for the services the government officials are supposed to do as part of their job duties (Ogundiya et al., 2011). That is, grease payments do not require government officials to abuse their power to change the decision-making process system but induce them to accelerate it.

#### **Theoretical Evidence**

As there is an ongoing debate on the definition of corruption, the same is true for the consequences that corruption brings to enterprises. While some studies suggest that corruption hurts the development of enterprises and innovation, others advocate for the enhancement of enterprises that corruption causes (Bologna & Ross, 2015). This has been named the "grease the wheels" vs "sand the wheels" debate on the effect of corruption among scholars of different schools that have lasted for the last two decades. For Arif et al. (2020), because corruption is an arbitrary phenomenon, the effect of corruption differs from region to region, and thus, cannot be held universal. If so, the long-lasting debate on corruption outcomes is essential.

What the "grease the wheels" theory assumes is that despite the negative public attitude towards corruption, the economic impact of corruption is usually wrongly estimated. Namely, the theory assumes that corruption, within a context of low institutional quality, is

a beneficial factor that facilitates and improves bureaucratic processes, i.e. "grease the wheels" of the mechanism that drives the implementation processes (Meon & Sekkat, 2005). To speak about the enterprise sector specifically, the proponents of the theory such as Campos et al. (2010) suggested that corruption greases the enterprise sector by removing the legislative barriers and regulations to ease the business decision-making process.

An alternative view that Meon and Sekkat (2005) presented is the "sand the wheels" theory, by which corruption "sands" the wheels or slows down the whole process. In other words, the theory argues that the benefits of corruption incur higher costs. For example, it might provoke additional speculation or purposeful worsening of the quality of service, which otherwise would not appear, by public officials to get this extra payment or bribe (Meon & Sekkat, 2005). Hoinaru et al. (2020) developed the "sand the wheels" theory further by saying that while corruption impedes economic growth and cuts investments, it catches the business sector in a vicious circle. It means that while corruption reduces the enterprise's potential for growth and productivity, enterprise owners and government officials make little attempt to change the situation. As they do so, corruption spreads further and destroys the business sector more (Hoinaru et al., 2020).

Indeed, the findings on corruption outcomes remain mixed. The empirical findings to support either of the theories are largely drawn from the results of the GEM (Global Entrepreneurship Monitor) surveys for 55 countries, which is the project that helps identify the correlation between the country's economic growth and the enterprise sector (Bosma, 2013).

Based on the available data, Dutta and Sobel (2016) suggest that the entrepreneurs' plans for future growth rise with a low level of corruption. The other study led by Aidis et al. (2012), which also uses the GEM data, proves that corruption brings mixed results, and the correlation between corruption and lowering SME activity is held strong. As they continue their study, they suggest that the impact of corruption differs because the relationship between corruption and enterprises is influenced by the factors such as the business climate, quality of institutions, and whether the business sector that corruption proceeds in is formal or informal.

## **Empirical Evidence**

## Negative Effect of Corruption

Corruption as an illegal act is considered one of the key problems in many countries. Bologna and Ross (2015) found a strong correlation between a high level of bribery and a decrease in the number of enterprises in Brazilian municipalities. The authors indicated that Brazil is one of the highly corrupt countries mainly because of the decentralized government (Bologna & Ross, 2015). The study was focused on the long-term negative effect of corruption on enterprises between 2003 and 2012.

Chen and Cheng (2019) provided several reasons why corruption suppresses enterprise activities and diminishes the incentives of potential entrepreneurs to start their businesses. First of all, corruption decreases the profitability of enterprises by increasing their costs since public officials or other authoritative figures may require additional payments and bribes. Secondly, corruption devalues trust that is necessary within the market as well as a social network that is important for potential entrepreneurs. Thirdly, corruption creates a monopoly and hurts the competitiveness of the market. This negatively affects the incentives of new entrepreneurs to enter the market.

Similar results have been found by Liu et al. (2018) by using a longitudinal nationwide household-level survey for China. That is, individual-level activity has been studied in the emerging market framework. Emerging markets tend to be considered developed but they do not completely meet its standards. Therefore, the corruption at sub-national and individual levels was examined to identify whether corruption at higher levels would affect the individuals' choices to enter the emerging market (Liu et al., 2018). It has to be noted that the consideration of individual characteristics is important. In other words, how sub-national corruption can influence the motivation and incentives of entrepreneurs to continue their businesses. Also, the background and personality of entrepreneurs are important factors in the context of research. However, Liu et al. (2018) emphasized the nonlinearity of the relationship between corruption and enterprises so that the influence of corruption on SMEs depends on whether corruption is high or low. At a high level of corruption, its effect on enterprises is detrimental, while corruption at a low level can facilitate enterprises. This nonlinear and complex effect of corruption refers to other findings that the quality of

institutions can also change the impact of corruption. Many studies indicated that corruption tends to hurt enterprise activities within strong institutional frameworks. Bologna and Ross (2015) explained this pattern by saying that the institutional quality can be measured by the ability of municipalities to control the procedures through regulations and business codes, which is also known as the management capacity of municipalities.

Indeed, entrepreneurs tend to be engaged in corruption if the enforcement of financial and legal institutions is weak. Berdiev and Saunoris (2018) highlighted that the decision to engage in entrepreneurship can be affected by the low quality of institutions along with corruption. That is, bribes will help entrepreneurs to expand their businesses in the competitive market and could even lead to a monopoly. According to Dutta and Sobel (2016), this has two sides. On the one hand, the overall output and efficiency in the market would decrease. On the other hand, the industry may produce inefficiently big output at a social cost, but with private benefit creating negative externalities (Dutta & Sobel, 2016). Hence, the impact of corruption on enterprises depends on the quality of institutions and bribes tend to help entrepreneurs to survive within the market. Bologna and Ross (2015) emphasized that poor quality of institutions can lead to a positive effect of corruption on enterprises, which partially supports the "grease the wheels" theory. As a result, corruption can facilitate enterprise activities within the framework of poor-quality financial institutions, but the influence of corruption on enterprises is negative with regulations.

Berdiev and Saunoris (2018) also argued that corruption deters formal entrepreneurship but promotes entrepreneurship in the informal sector. Formal entrepreneurs have several advantages over informal ones. For example, they have access to the financial system of official institutions. Also, participation in the formal economy provides "law and order, property rights and contract enforcement, and a court system" (Berdiev & Saunoris, 2018, p. 833). However, there is also a high cost of operating in the formal sector, such as high taxes, regulations, and other bureaucratic challenges. These factors influence entrepreneurs to move from the formal to the informal sector, where they can participate in illegal activities and promote their businesses at the risk of being detected and consequently punished. In return, they are free from bureaucracy and paying high taxes (Berdiev & Saunoris, 2018).

In many developing countries, avoiding government interventions and regulations through corruption is one of the ways for entrepreneurs to survive and increase their revenues. Rentseeking in such countries could be a government failure since it is inefficient. Moreover, some state regulations can put entrepreneurs in a stalemate. Ngunjiri (2010) emphasized that in African countries, a state can impose high costs for entrepreneurs in the form of rents to promote their businesses. As a result, many enterprises look for an easier way to minimize that costs and bribe civil servants to avoid rent. This will lead to low economic development because corruption diminishes future investments and consequently economic growth.

The results of the survey conducted by Ngunjiri (2010) demonstrated that the Police, the Ministry of Local Government, and the Ministry of Lands are the most corrupt organizations in Kenya. Therefore, public services provided to the citizens by these organizations are extremely low-quality since they are corrupted. Involvement in corruption is led by possible access to particular services and information or the possibility to avoid punishment. All of these factors decrease the quality of public services and consequently the well-being of citizens. Obviously, some individuals benefit from it, but this also creates negative externalities.

Suleimenova et al. (2018) demonstrated the corruption perception of Kazakhstani entrepreneurs and civil servants: they understand corruption mainly as a social network for protection and covering up, and then as bribery and usage of official status for their interests. Respondents mentioned irregular involvement in corruption despite their perception of widespread corruption cases in the country. Authors highlighted that entrepreneurs and civil servants are reluctant or not willing to discuss their experience in corruption. This could be a cause of the gap between their perceptions and responses to corruption cases.

Entrepreneurs in Kazakhstan believe that bribes are considered an easier way to avoid problems, but only under extreme circumstances so that they are forced to be involved in corruption. Nevertheless, corruption is detrimental to the development of enterprises and consequently to economic growth because SMEs are an essential part of the economic

development of the country (Suleimenova et al., 2018). Therefore, tolerance for corruption should be diminished.

### Positive Effect of Corruption

Recently, a great number of studies started to explore the other, positive, side of corruption and its influence on the business industry, in particular. For example, Dreher and Gassebner (2013) in their studies tried to identify whether corruption may actually "grease the wheels" of the enterprise activity by performing a cross-cultural analysis of 43 countries over two years. The results of this study have shown that corruption positively influences, what they have called, "nascent entrepreneurship". As the measure of "nascent entrepreneurship", the authors took the percentage of the population that has attempted to initiate new business over the past year. Another example that supports this "grease the wheels" theory is the work of Liu et al. (2018), where the relationship between corruption and enterprises through a nationwide survey in China was investigated. As was demonstrated by the results of the probit regression model, there exists a positive correlation between entrepreneurial activity and corruption up to some threshold point of corruption level.

As for Kazakhstan, it was found that corruption promotes the productivity growth of Kazakhstani firms and contributes to the abovementioned "grease the wheels" hypothesis as well (Kalyuzhnova & Belitski, 2019). The research is based on the BEEPS for Kazakhstan; about 940 firms participated in this survey. Moreover, the authors identified that corruption increased employment in these firms, especially within low-competitive markets. Corruption can be considered a positively affecting factor for enterprises in countries with bad business climates, especially in post-socialist countries with high corruption (Dutta & Sobel, 2016). A bad business climate initiates corruption to navigate enterprises and business growth will be weak without corruption in such countries.

Though it all violates the traditional view of corruption as a negative issue, Meon and Sekkat (2005) in their work offered a possible explanation of its positive effect. Authors state that bribes to public sector officials accelerate the bureaucratic processes by motivating the workers with the reward. Bayley (1966) also argues that bribes can increase the quality of civil servants' work because it compensates for their usually low salary and augment persons' willingness to do their job properly. Another research done by Hanoteau

and Vial (2014) on the productivity of the industrial plants in Indonesia pointed out that small and medium-sized bribes, except for the large ones, tend to facilitate the growth of labor productivity.

However, what is detrimental in the case of the "grease the wheels" hypothesis is the above-mentioned combination of low-quality governance and corruption. Infante and Smirnova (2009) in their work developed a theoretical model, where they have assessed how rent-seeking behavior (including an illegal one, like corruption) influences the performance of the business sector within the context of weak institutions. As a result, the authors concluded that if bureaucrats are more prone to rent-seeking behavior, it tends to increase the social surplus and facilitate business development. Meon and Weill (2010) in their work testified this hypothesis on the example of 69 countries, where both developed and developing countries were included. What they have discovered is that this positive correlation between bribery or any other kind of corruption works only in countries with low institutional efficiency.

Following that, Xie et al. (2019) in their research also emphasize the importance of the context of transitional economies when talking about corruption. By analyzing the World Bank Enterprise Survey of China, where 2099 Chinese firms were included, the authors concluded that there is a relationship between corruption and the innovative ability of the firm, and this relationship is positive. What is also important among the authors' findings is that institutional and political instability can be accounted for in this strong relationship. If the quality of institutions rises, the impact of corruption on firms' innovations decreases.

As was discussed above, the relationship between corruption and enterprises is still ambiguous. Many authors indicated that the influence of corruption depends on the size of the latter. That is, corruption can accelerate the growth of enterprises at a low level of corruption. Also, the influence of corruption can be positive under weak and ineffective formal institutions. Therefore, corruption can be helpful for enterprises in developing countries, while in well-developed countries, it can be detrimental. However, the effect of corruption varies across countries according to the business climate within the country. Hence, this conclusion is not valid and cannot be generalized due to the gap in the existing

literature such as the lack of information about the perception of entrepreneurs and their incentives to start or continue the business.

The limitation of existing literature is that it mainly focuses on corruption from the economic perspective, i.e. emphasizes its effect on the economic growth and productivity of firms, and does not consider the perspectives of the entrepreneurs towards corruption. The current study contributes to the discussion about the effect of corruption on enterprise performance. First of all, we provide the corruption perception of Kazakhstani entrepreneurs. Second, the study is aimed to identify the influence of corruption on the personal incentives and motivation of entrepreneurs. Hence, while other studies mainly focused on the industry at the country level, we consider individual characteristics. Moreover, the paper contributes to the findings by Suleimenova et al. (2018) that there is a negative impact of corruption on the development of enterprises.

#### **RESEARCH METHODS**

In our research, we use a quasi-experimental research design, and a mixed-methods approach in order to explore not only the general effect of corruption but entrepreneurs' perceptions and investigate possible similarities or contradictions between the results of quantitative and qualitative parts, respectively.

For the quantitative part, the regression analysis will be conducted using the data from the BEEPS, which was developed by the World Bank in cooperation with the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD). The survey has collected information about more than 160 thousand firms in 146 countries (World Bank, n.d.) according to different categories such as management of the enterprise, sales, business-government relations, infrastructure, etc. In particular, we will use the regression model developed by Kalyuzhnova and Belitski (2019) in their work about firm performance and corruption in Kazakhstan.

Next, the qualitative part includes 10 in-depth semi-structured interviews. We conducted interviews with Kazakhstani entrepreneurs, limited to businesses functioning in Almaty and Nur-Sultan cities. The entrepreneurs operate in different areas such as education, health, beauty industry, PR & media, transportation services, logistics, and the restaurant industry. The respondents were invited to a Zoom or in-person meetings to discuss how they started their enterprises and the difficulties they face in running an enterprise in Kazakhstan, and share their perception of corruption in Kazakhstan. As corruption is a sensitive subject for discussion, the method of snowball sampling was applied; we assumed that not every entrepreneur would be willing to talk about such issues with outsiders, especially among those, who somehow were involved in any type of corruption during their entrepreneurial activity. That is why to ensure the completeness and trustworthiness of the information as far as possible, entrepreneurs were chosen from relatives or friends and acquaintances. However, the main limitation of the snowball sampling might have been the bias in respondents' answers due to the lack of randomness in the sample. Because the responders were further referred by other respondents, there is a possibility of the similarity in the views of acquainted people.

#### **Conceptual Model and Hypothesis**

Based on the literature review, the following hypotheses will be tested:

H1: Corruption decreases firm performance worldwide.

H2: Corruption decreases firm performance in Kazakhstan

H3: Kazakhstani entrepreneurs perceive corruption as a severe obstacle for running the enterprise.

The hypotheses are connected to the current situation in Kazakhstan and evolved from the literature on the negative effect of corruption within the context of poor institutional development. The main point was to test whether it is true that corruption demotivates entrepreneurs to develop their businesses and negatively affects their profitability because of the lack of confidence within the Kazakhstani business climate.

The outcomes of our mixed-methods approach include interview analysis as well as the results of regression models. The former includes thematic analysis and uncovers the attitude of the business owners on corruption and its effect on business operation. The latter quantitatively assesses the impact of the presence of corruption on the performance of the firm by hypothesis testing.

In the quantitative part, the main dependent variable, which is the variable for corruption, will be taken directly from the answers to the specific question, where entrepreneurs had to rank to what extent is corruption an obstacle for them (0 - not an obstacle at all or minor obstacle, 1 - major or severe obstacle). The independent variable, firm performance, will be composite and will be operationalized according to the methodology of Kalyuzhnova and Belitski (2019). This variable will be divided into two parts, which, presumably, can reflect the firm performance: sales growth and employment growth. Other than that, independent demographic variables, which might also influence firm performance are controlled. The description of all variables can be found in Table 1.

The regression models have the following forms:

sales growth = 
$$\beta_0 + \beta_1 corruption + \beta_2 size + \beta_3 age + \beta_4 foreign + \beta_5 state$$
  
+  $\beta_6 certificate + \beta_7 manager + \beta_8 female + \beta_9 govcontract$   
+  $\beta_{10} GDP + i.year + e$ 

# employment growth

$$=\beta_0+\beta_1 corruption+\beta_2 \ size \ +\beta_3 age+\beta_4 foreign+\beta_5 state \\ +\beta_6 certificate+\beta_7 manager+\beta_8 female+\beta_9 govcontract \\ +\beta_{10} GDP+i.\ year+e$$

#### **FINDINGS**

#### **Summary of Findings from the Regression Analysis**

This section presents the results of the quantitative part of the methodology. First, to check whether the results for Kazakhstan and other countries in the world are similar or different, we built time-fixed effect regressions for the whole world and Kazakhstan separately.

The main independent variable in the regression model is corruption, which indicates firms' perception of corruption. The variable *corruption* is a dummy variable. That is, 0 is no obstacle or a minor obstacle; 1 is a major obstacle or a very severe obstacle. The distribution of firms is such that about 66.6% of them do not perceive corruption as a significant obstacle, while about 33.4% of firms perceive corruption otherwise.

Our control variables are firm-level indicators such as the size and age of the firm, percentage of government's or foreign investors' share, whether the firm has international quality certification, work experience of a top manager, gender of a top manager, whether the firm received government contracts within a year, and GDP per capita of the country, where the firm is located. GDP per capita is an important representative of the economic environment in which business grows. Size and age of the firm directly influence the firm performance as, for example, younger firms may grow faster compared to the older ones because they are at the beginning of their path, while bigger firms might grow more rapidly than smaller firms due to larger human capital. The ownership of the firm might also play a role as well as affiliation with government contracts, as state-controlled and state-supported enterprises may have more convenient financial assistance to develop. International certification, as well as manager's experience and female representation in top management, also might demonstrate the firm's internal politics and willingness to grow. These control variables were taken into account based on Kalyuzhnova and Belitski's (2019) methodology.

Summary statistics for all variables are presented in Table 1 and Table 2 below.

Table 1: Description of variables

Variable	Description	Unit of Measurement	Source	
salesgrowth	change of sales during the last three fiscal years, in percentage	percent	World Bank BEEPS	
empgrowth	change of number of employees during the last three fiscal years, in percentage	percent	World Bank BEEPS	
corruption	firm's perception of how much corruption is an obstacle	0 - minor or no obstacle at all; 1 - a severe or major obstacle	World Bank BEEPS	
size	size of the firm in terms of the number of full-time employees	person	World Bank BEEPS	
age	age of the firm	year	World Bank BEEPS	
foreign	percent of the firm's shares owned by foreign investors	percent	World Bank BEEPS	
state	percent of the firm's shares owned by the government	percent	World Bank BEEPS	
certificate	presence of international quality certification	0 - no; 1 - yes	World Bank BEEPS	
manager	top manager's years of experience	year	World Bank BEEPS	
female	whether the top manager is a woman	0 - no; 1 - yes	World Bank BEEPS	
govcontract	involvement in contract work with the government during the last 12 months	0 - no; 1 - yes	World Bank BEEPS	
GDP per capita	GDP per capita of the country, where the firm is located	Constant 2015 US dollars	World Bank World Development Indicators	

Table 2. Summary statistics of variables for all countries and Kazakhstan

Variable	Me	Mean Std. Dev.		Dev.	Min	imum	Maximum	
	World	KZ	World	KZ	World	KZ	World	KZ
salesgrowth	0.791	-0.989	26.381	27.849	-99.999	-99.769	100	95.064
empgrowth	4.190	4.389	16.626	14.977	-100	-89.349	100	100
corruption	0.337	0.189	0.473	0.392	0	0	1	1
size	22.174	23.358	20.540	20.255	0	1	99	99
age	17.474	10.763	14.717	6.879	0	1	221	65
foreign	5.877	2.423	21.962	13.861	0	0	100	100
state	0.369	0.125	4.755	2.496	0	0	100	60
certificate	0.167	0.126	0.373	0.332	0	0	1	1
manager	17.607	13.246	11.167	9.570	0	1	60	60
female	0.165	0.274	0.371	0.446	0	0	1	1
govcontract	0.184	0.217	0.434	0.412	0	0	1	1
GDP	7039.191	10596.61	10747.81	1096.196	328.147	8487.545	104529.3	11402.76

Our two main hypotheses are that corruption negatively affects the performance of firms worldwide and in Kazakhstan. The hypotheses refer to a common perception that corruption and bribery are a problem that impedes the functioning of the economy. The performance of enterprises can be demonstrated through the growth of their revenues and employment level. That is why we used two regression models both for sales growth and employment growth. It was also necessary to control for omitted variable bias by conducting state-fixed effect and time-fixed effect regressions. That way we managed to control for time-invariant differences across countries and state-invariant differences across time. The main objective is to identify whether there is a causal relationship between corruption and business performance. Secondly, it is important to test this relationship whether positive or negative. Next, it is necessary to identify whether this relationship, if it exists, is the same worldwide and in Kazakhstan.

The results of all regressions are presented in Table 3 and Table 4. In general, the results demonstrate that *corruption* negatively influences both sales and employment growth

among SMEs all around the world. In other words, the perception of corruption as a severe obstacle would decrease sales and employment growth rates by 0.484 and 0.664 percent respectively (ceteris paribus). As a result, we fail to reject the first hypothesis about the negative relationship between firm performance and corruption worldwide. As for control variables, it can be seen that almost all of them, in different regressions, have a statistically significant effect on firm performance.

From the results of regression analysis for Kazakhstani firms presented in Tables 3 and 4, we can see that the connection between firm performance and corruption perception goes against our expectations. There exists a positive relationship between the corruption index that firms evaluate and sales and employment growth, but it is not statistically significant. That means that corruption in Kazakhstani firms in the sample affects neither sales nor employment growth of the firm. Thus, we reject our second hypothesis. Among statistically significant variables in both models for Kazakhstan, there are the size and age of the firm, the presence of international certification, and GDP per capita.

Table 3. Results for sales growth

Sales growth	Worldwide	Worldwide	Worldwide	Worldwide	Kazakhstan	Kazakhstan
corruption	-0.990***	-1.180***	-0.228	-0.484**	0.248	0.099
	(0.215)	(0.216)	(0.218)	(0.218)	(2.169)	(2.124)
size	0.056***	0.042***	0.041***	0.038***	0.111***	0.087**
	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.041)	(0.040)
age	-0.276***	-0.266***	-0.29***	-0.289***	-1.374***	-1.245***
	(0.018)	(0.018)	(0.018)	(0.018)	(0.314)	(0.308)
age-squared	0.002***	0.002***	0.002***	0.002***	0.022***	0.019***
	(0.0002)	(0.0002)	(0.0002)	(0.0002)	(0.008)	(0.007)
foreign	-0.005	-0.009*	-0.007	-0.006	0.028	0.033
	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.019)	(0.064)	(0.062)
state	0.041**	0.036*	0.038*	0.033*	-0.129	-0.115
	(0.020)	(0.020)	(0.019)	(0.019)	(0.319)	(0.313)
certificate	1.470***	1.791***	0.494*	0.602**	4.373*	4.714*
	(0.271)	(0.273)	(0.268)	(0.268)	(2.512)	(2.459)
manager	-0.007	-0.030***	-0.045***	-0.045***	-0.098	-0.136
	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.098)	(0.096)
female	-0.141	-1.005***	-0.723***	-0.710***	0.576	-0.342
	(0.275)	(0.274)	(0.270)	(0.269)	(1.824)	(1.789)
govcontract	1.158***	0.779***	0.538**	0.495*	0.482	1.412
	(0.271)	(0.269)	(0.263)	(0.262)	(2.019)	(1.980)
GDP	0.0002***	0.0001***	0.00001	0.0005***	0.002***	0.002**
	(0.00001)	(0.00001)	(0.0001)	(0.0002)	(0.001)	(0.001)
Constant	1.624***	3.15***	1.627	-4.699**	-16.098*	-4.771
	(0.287)	(0.930)	(1.489)	(2.042)	(8.552)	(8.516)
State-fixed	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No
Time-fixed	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes
N, observations	68,804	68,804	68,804	68,804	1,164	1,164
R-squared	0.012	0.034	0.120	0.127	0.044	0.085
RMSE	26.187	25.897	24.735	24.644	27.657	27.067

<sup>\* -</sup> p-value < 0.1 \*\* - p-value < 0.05 \*\*\* - p-value < 0.01

Table 4. Results for employment growth

Employment growth	Worldwide	Worldwide	Worldwide	Worldwide	Kazakhstan	Kazakhstan
corruption	-0.542***	-0.654***	-0.703***	-0.664***	0.044	0.064
	(0.119)	(0.121)	(0.127)	(0.127)	(0.991)	(0.991)
size	0.064***	0.061***	0.067***	0.066***	0.087***	0.088***
	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.019)	(0.019)
age	-0.339***	-0.335***	-0.306***	-0.304***	-0.792***	-0.798***
	(0.009)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.142)	(0.019)
age-squared	0.0025***	0.002***	0.002***	0.002***	0.012***	0.012***
	(0.0001)	(0.0001)	(0.0001)	(0.0001)	(0.003)	(0.003)
foreign	-0.010***	-0.009***	-0.014***	-0.014***	0.020	0.021
	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.027)	(0.027)
state	0.029**	-0.031***	-0.032***	-0.034***	-0.001	0.0004
	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.156)	(0.155)
certificate	1.126	-0.201	0.217	-0.221	-2.229**	-2.267**
	(0.152)	(0.154)	(0.157)	(0.157)	(1.138)	(1.138)
manager	-0.059***	-0.057***	-0.055***	-0.052***	-0.136***	-0.134***
	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.044)	(0.044)
female	-0.589***	-0.542***	-0.166	-0.173	0.456	0.499
	(0.152)	(0.153)	(0.156)	(0.157)	(0.840)	(0.842)
govcontract	0.698***	0.625***	0.323***	0.344***	1.218	1.175
	(0.153)	(0.153)	(0.154)	(0.154)	(0.905)	(0.906)
GDP	0.00002**	0.00002***	0.0001**	0.0005**	0.0007	0.0007
	(0.287)	(0.000)	(0.00008)	(0.0001)	(0.0004)	(0.0004)
Constant	8.151	9.247***	12.356***	12.356***	4.189	3.333
	(0.158)	(0.084)	(0.679)	(0.679)	(4.042)	(4.147)
State-fixed	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No
Time-fixed	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes
N, observations	83,223	83,223	83,223	83,223	1,585	1,585
R-squared	0.035	0.039	0.063	0.063	0.062	0.063
RMSE	16.091	16.06	15.872	15.872	14.828	14.828

<sup>\* -</sup> p-value < 0.1 \*\* - p-value < 0.05 \*\*\* - p-value < 0.01

In general, the results of the regression models for Kazakhstani firms and firms in the whole world are different. Corruption seems to have a negative influence on firms' performance worldwide but does not seem to have such an effect in Kazakhstan. Our findings for Kazakhstan partially support the outcomes of Kalyuzhnova and Belitski (2019), whose methodology we tried to replicate in the quantitative part, and who also found out that there is no connection between corruption and sales growth.

## **Summary of Findings from Semi-Structured Interviews**

This section demonstrates the findings from the semi-structured interviews held with 10 small and medium Kazakhstani entrepreneurs. During the interviews, enterprise owners were asked to share their corruption experiences and attitude toward the extent of corruption in the interaction between government and SMEs in Kazakhstan.

The responses to semi-structured interview questions were then grouped into eight common major themes.

Theme 1: Corruption is considered a problem across public and private sectors in Kazakhstan

All the entrepreneurs recognize that corruption is present in Kazakhstani society and is found in both the private and public sectors. When asked to evaluate the extent to which corruption is generally a problem in Kazakhstan on a scale of 1 (not a problem) to 10 (a major problem), most if not all rated corruption as 10 out of 10. This shows that entrepreneurs mostly believe that corruption hurts and is a serious problem, particularly for its negative effect on the functioning of national institutions and economic growth in the country, and if so, they support the "sanding the wheels" theory.

For all respondents, the reasons for corruption persistence are twofold: first, left unchecked by the poorly functioning Kazakhstani anti-corruption agency, government officials have open opportunities for corruption, and second, when salaries of government officials are low, government officials may decide to accept bribes to make ends meet. Third, for some, corruption is thought of as a problem just because not only government officials are ready to take bribes, but Kazakhstani people also feel compelled to give bribes. One of the respondents said, "Surely, we are also to blame. I cannot earn my daily bread if I do not do that, I have to do all the corrupt things". Some believed that corrupt behavior is rooted in

the Kazakhstani culture and mentality; they shared that the culture of corruption stretches from the 1990s, the unstable times in early independence times, during which the business spheres were occupied by a few oligarchs who used bribery or other forms of corruption to advance their interests. One respondent said, "We are too romantic about corruption. We talk about how we manipulate money, sounding like we are bragging. We think that if we have a relative working in the top government, we are cool". The other has shared, "We are greedy. We want more".

Theme 2: Entrepreneurs do not anticipate corruption while running an enterprise in Kazakhstan

While all perceive corruption as present across many institutions in Kazakhstan, nine of the entrepreneurs do not anticipate corruption in the enterprise sector just because for them, the business operations seem to be fairly transparent. For example, one of the entrepreneurs acknowledged, "I have not seen it yet so that someone weaker than me in any sense could win the tender. So far what I have seen is only that they were stronger than me...who is stronger, who is more experienced wins". As such, when asked to rate corruption as a problem in the enterprise sector on a scale from 1 (not a problem) to 10 (a major problem), most entrepreneurs rated corruption as 5 or 7 out of 10. With this, only one respondent believes that it is difficult to run an enterprise in Kazakhstan without being involved in corruption.

This might reflect several factors. First, corruption represents a minor business challenge compared to bureaucratic issues in the enterprise sector; as such, all entrepreneurs have reported having problems with bureaucracy and service of documents, not with corruption. Second, the size of enterprises matters; perhaps, SMEs are rarely involved in corruption because the size of these companies is too small for the government officials to extract large benefits from it. As one small-scale entrepreneur shared, "I did not encounter corruption. I am too small for the system...". For many, corruption is more of a persistent problem in larger enterprises, given the larger profits of these companies. Third, respondents may also demonstrate an unwillingness to talk about sensitive issues such as corruption.

Theme 3: Starting and growing an enterprise in Kazakhstan is not problematic: it requires minimal costs and is easy to do.

All the respondents shared their positive experiences of going through the government procedures to start and grow an enterprise in Kazakhstan. As shared, opening an enterprise in Kazakhstan gets much easier with the current "Digital Kazakhstan" state program because fresh entrepreneurs do not need to submit an overwhelming amount of documentation or consult with the government officials to iron out the exact course of business procedures in person or traveling to official institutions. Instead, entrepreneurs obtain business licenses and permits online via EGOV.KZ portal or KASPI.KZ bank system in 20-30 minutes with the minimum enterprise information needed to process the request. One of the respondents said, "I did not have any problems with the registration. In this regard, it is super that you can do it online. Very comfortable and quick." The other has supported the same position by saying, "I opened the business while being in a taxi. I only needed the WI-FI and KASPI account".

Entrepreneurs also share positive expectations for the future of their businesses; they emphasized that despite problems with bureaucratic procedures, they still develop the forecasts for the next few years to transform into medium or large enterprises and are ready to invest to keep their businesses growing. One respondent said, "I'm not afraid. I will enlarge my business. I will not pay anyone bribes. It is possible not to pay bribes but be successful. I do not know, perhaps I am unique".

As revealed, the real challenges in running the enterprise in Kazakhstan lay beyond once the enterprise is officially open.

Theme 4: The major obstacle to running an enterprise in Kazakhstan is not corruption but bureaucracy

For many, the major obstacle to running a business is the bureaucratic long procedures, which do not work steadily, slow down the decision-making process, and are needlessly time-consuming. As one entrepreneur said, "This (bureaucracy) is a barrier, which we cannot pass. We need some way for young companies to grow".

Entrepreneurs have shared their major bureaucratic concern – a lack of information on how to start a business, by which fresh entrepreneurs are not aware of services the government

and National "Atameken" Chamber of Entrepreneurs deliver, where they should go to get the service and how to fill in the necessary documents. For them, a good way to solve the problem is by introducing a calendar in the EGOV system, which handles deadlines and business opening emails; this will be a fast and easy way to remind fresh entrepreneurs of key deadlines and the documents they must submit such as financial reports. This should be designed to improve the knowledge of entrepreneurs of key documents and navigate them at the start of their enterprise journey. As one entrepreneur shared, "That is, you are not told that at the beginning of the month you must prepare this, and in the middle of the month you must prepare this, but at the end of the month you must prepare this... I am working, I don't always devote time to documentation, and this is all at the end of the month when everyone is already waking up, everyone is running to the tax office... There could be such a function, for example, as a calendar, an alarm clock, I don't know... some reminders". As of now, instead of wasting time in long wait lines and going to the local Akimats, discussions have shown that entrepreneurs heavily rely on the services of privately recruited and freelance accountants, who help with document filling and sending the financial reports to the local Departments of State Revenues.

Indeed, most have reported never asking for government assistance with their enterprises. Discussions with entrepreneurs have shown that they share the common prejudice of the government being unable to consult the entrepreneurs and wasting their valuable time. One of the respondents said, "I know that maybe I will go there, I will spend a lot of strength and energy. Then, in the end, I won't get anything". This shows that the key reason why they do not ask for government help is that they believe that the government is run ineffectively either because government officials cannot manage and organize tons of data or because they suffer from low human capital, which then limits their productivity. One entrepreneur shared, "People who compile this documentation, they do not quite understand even what is written there because they have a lot of different tasks, they cannot understand each one specifically. And in this regard, of course, there are problems".

To sum up the responses of entrepreneurs, corruption is not a hindrance to business functioning, ineffective bureaucracy challenges business decision-making much more.

Theme 5: Entrepreneurs do not want to work for government officials because of their suspicions and accusations of corruption in the government

Entrepreneurs shared a pessimistic view towards working for the government when the government is a client, particularly winning the tender or securing the government contract because they believe that this necessarily involves corruption. One respondent shared, "There are troubles, any tender you look at, everywhere something has been done for someone. In other words, it is directly creating obstacles for others not to enter the market and get the tender. Of course, this is a problem". The respondent continues her point by saying that the government might cause problems for the businesses artificially and demand paying bribes to help solve these problems. The entrepreneur believed, "This situation might not have happened. It turns out that they can also artificially create a situation that it is already necessary to solve... It seems to me that this is present in all areas. The fact that government agencies or quasi-state agencies can artificially create a problem that did not exist. Scarcity creates demand. If we make a deficit artificially, then people will want to solve the problem faster".

At the same time, when asked about their experience of working with the government when the government is a service provider, they all have shared that they do not have problems with accessing the government service or departments.

## Theme 6: Entrepreneurs do not have a common definition of corruption

When asked to share their definition and understanding of corruption, entrepreneurs have defined corruption in different ways. While for some corruption is when the government officials use public power to provide services for individuals in exchange for money only, for others corruption is any other activity that defies the law. This shows that individuals cannot cultivate a common definition of corruption in society, and if individuals view corruption differently, they may also have different viewpoints regarding how to curb corruption and which anti-corruption measures to implement.

Theme 7: Individuals do not know what kinds of fraud or bribery should be reported and how to report it

When asked about what their actions would be once they see someone paying a bribe to a government official in exchange for service, all respondents have expressed their

willingness to report the cases. One shared, "I am a police informer. I am against corruption. I stand for honesty. I will find a way to report corruption. This is the right thing to do".

Once the respondents are asked to share agencies whom to contact to report corruption, they are dubious. One respondent said, "There are some phone numbers, I guess. We can find them on the Internet". This demonstrates little knowledge of anti-corruption agencies and policy in Kazakhstan; individuals did little to cultivate a knowledge of anti-corruption tools and cannot fight for their rights. This may prompt the government to use better communication channels to communicate anti-corruption policy more openly and educate the population on the key agencies to contact.

Theme 8: Digitalization is a way the government can sustain a corruption-free environment in the enterprise sector

When asked to suggest effective anti-corruption tools, for all, the current "Digital Kazakhstan" state program does well in preventing corruption in the enterprise sector. All take an example of a successful EGOV launch, by which opening the business has become a quicker process taking 20-30 minutes on the online system. The system launch also helps make the business processes run transparently and more effectively because the services can be delivered online in an open system. One entrepreneur shared, "When it's all electronic, it's all convenient, you don't need to travel as it used to be, you don't need to go to other government agencies, take each document, we send just one mail to one government agency, they do everything there themselves. In this regard, it is convenient".

They also believe that once the punishment for corruption becomes harsher, government officials and citizens will be disincentivized to accept or pay bribes, respectively. For others, the long-term solution is to cultivate "anti-corrupt thinking" by better education in schools and universities promoting open discussions, transparency, and honest behavior; this also includes the courses on information literacy taught at schools to help students enhance critical thinking skills and identify credible sources of information.

#### **DISCUSSION**

The present paper contributes to the existing literature on corruption impact on SME development and corruption perception in several aspects. First, our findings suggest that corruption hurts SME development by driving down enterprise performance, particularly employment and sales growth. If so, we fail to reject the first research hypothesis. Second, for Kazakhstan, the corruption impact on SME performance remains negligible, and thus, we reject the second research hypothesis. We explain the differences in the results for the worldwide and Kazakhstani situations by saying that these might come from inaccurate data provided by local BEEPS respondents unwilling to share information about corruption because it is a sensitive topic for discussion. From the qualitative part, we also reject the third hypothesis, which means that Kazakhstani entrepreneurs do not perceive corruption as a severe obstacle for running the enterprise. Instead, they perceive bureaucracy as a major concern for business, not corruption.

As we examine the corruption perception among Kazakhstani entrepreneurs, we observe that respondents perceive the problem of corruption in Kazakhstan negatively, and in so doing, they think of corruption as the major government problem to tackle. If we identify where this negative perception comes from, we first find out that personal experience of corruption does not determine one's negative perception of corruption. Indeed, following the responses collected, we do not have data on corruption incidents, personal experience of corruption, or witnessing corruption elsewhere. If so, personal experience of corruption is not as far important in formulating collective negative attitudes towards the problem of corruption in Kazakhstan.

Instead, the decisive factors in explaining one's negative corruption perception are the collective distrust for the government and some pessimism about the functioning of national institutions in Kazakhstan. It is here where we find out that individual negative perceptions of corruption are largely shaped by environmental and social influences like those of what peers or family members think of corruption. After individuals become informed that others think of corruption as a persistent problem in Kazakhstani society, individuals tend to change their corruption perception and indirectly agree with the public's negative view of corruption. In other words, it is from the interaction of individuals who

assume that corruption is a negative phenomenon that this collective negative perception of corruption arises. Individuals may change their behavior and corruption perception in line with the public opinion, even if their corruption experience is different from what the public thinks. As observed, while none of the entrepreneurs have reported or witnessed corruption cases, they still believe that corruption is pervasive everywhere.

Perhaps, collective pessimism about Kazakhstani national institutions might be raised by the media coverage of corruption in Kazakhstan (Park & Lee, 2017). Media impact implies that as the media generates more and more news about corrupt officials in Kazakhstan, it creates a public impression of a very corrupt culture in Kazakhstan that may then change the individual perception of corruption towards the negative. The continued and widespread public opinion of corruption as a serious problem in Kazakhstan might also be reinforced by the historical collective distrust for the government accumulated over years of economic and social instability in Kazakhstan. This phenomenon of historical collective distrust for the government is not limited to Kazakhstan; it is perhaps applicable to other post-Soviet countries, which experienced a difficult period of economic recovery and state-building once the Soviet Union collapsed. Indeed, caught in the center of economic disaster and regime crisis, individuals were pessimistic about the prospects of the country. In so doing, they may have thought that the poor economic situation is necessarily linked to the abundance of corruption cases among the government officials. The continued absence of strong economic policies and political restructuring may have translated into citizen distrust of the government and national policy-making.

The other research finding is that corruption perception varies with the role of the government. As such, respondents do not have problems with the government when the government is a service provider because, for entrepreneurs, public institutions fulfill their obligations to help SMEs. But when the government is a client, entrepreneurs become suspicious about working with the government and tender system because they think that government contracts will necessarily involve some acts of corruption. This emphasizes the important role of the government, whether it is a service provider or a client, in the study of the relationship between SMEs and the government. From this, corruption perception is found to be biased and does not reflect the real corruption situation in the country.

By and large, we found that it is possible to start and grow an enterprise in Kazakhstan without being involved in corruption cases. Perhaps, this is true only for SMEs and the situation is different for large enterprises. Indeed, at the starting point, entrepreneurs' main business challenges are bureaucratic processes, which do not require entrepreneurs to give a bribe. At the same time, the government and other public institutions are not interested in small-sized enterprises because they represent a tiny source of private benefits. From this, it can be stated that there is a significant difference between the functioning of SMEs and larger enterprises employing more than 250 workers, particularly in regard to the role of government and corruption issues. Further research might survey the corruption problem at the level of large enterprises.

#### POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Before going to policy recommendations, it is important to understand the framework suggested by Khan in 2014 (see Appendix A). Khan et al. classified corruption into four types: corruption driven by market restrictions, policy-distorting corruption, political corruption, and predatory corruption (2019, p. 22). The current paper is focused on the first two classifications. According to Khan et al. (2019, p. 22), market restriction-driven corruption mainly occurs to reduce limitations created by states such as red tape, bureaucratic barriers, and market regulations, while state policy-distorting corruption diminishes social benefits of government policies through illegal acts of corruption that are aimed at private benefits of political authorities or other individuals. Anti-corruption strategies vary based on these types of corruption. For example, policies that are aimed at curbing corruption at the enterprise level should remove market restrictions. However, the effect of such anti-corruption strategies on economic growth is relatively low. In the case of policy-disturbing corruption, the government should focus on redesigning and further feasibility of policies. Moreover, the influence of this anti-corruption policy on economic development is high. Therefore, the government of Kazakhstan needs to concentrate on state-level corruption as it has a higher effect on development.

Based on the results of our research, several policy recommendations might be drawn from it. Taking into consideration the model we discussed above, developed by Khan et al. (2019, 22), we emphasize two main areas for policy influence: corruption in the business sector and state-level corruption. As for the former, it was mentioned previously that all of the interviewees are positive about the rapidly evolving digitalization process in Kazakhstan as a way of handling corruption in government-business relationships. According to the respondents, the reduction of human-to-human interaction leads to greater transparency and lowers the risk of corruption during bureaucratic processes related to opening and running a business. Thus, the government needs to proceed with the wider implementation and further development of the "Digital Kazakhstan" program so that more of the operations related to entrepreneurship would be possible to do online.

Another major common concern among the respondents related to the SME activity was the absence of instruments of communication between the government and business owners.

Respondents heavily expressed their dissatisfaction with the fact that there are no official sources with comprehensible information about the mandatory bureaucratic procedures or state support programs. This lack of available information, specifically at the beginning of the entrepreneur's path, makes opening and operating the business more challenging. Precisely the lack of information leads also to a low participation rate in the state support programs. The absence of high-quality communication channels also either increases the likelihood of corruption or demotivates the entrepreneur to interact with the state officials because, in case of the requests for informal payment or bribes from civil servants, entrepreneurs have nowhere to address their complaints. Thus, it is needed for the state to use digitalization, for example, the EGOV platform, in order to make the required information easily accessible and understandable for the entrepreneurs. It is also needed to improve and better monitor the work of the Entrepreneurs Chamber "Atameken", which is supposed to play the role of a communication bridge between state and business owners and represent their interests, but in reality, is very difficult to access. Also, there should exist hotlines and approachable state institutions, which would not only formally exist, but directly interact with the entrepreneurs and address their requests, complaints, and questions.

As for the state-level corruption, one of the major complaints from the entrepreneurs regarding the evident instances of corruption in government-business relations was connected with government contracts and tenders. Thus, when the government serves not as a service provider for SMEs, but as a client, it significantly increases the likelihood of corruption. Entrepreneurs are very dissatisfied with the existing tenders system and unmotivated to cooperate with the state because they automatically anticipate high risks of bribe requests in current conditions. There should be established common criteria and standards for fair and competitive tendering, because now, according to the responses, they are too vague or tailored specifically for firms that bribe the tender committee. Thus, the increase in transparency and tightened control of the state procurement and tenders systems should also be one of the priorities in the process of fighting corruption.

Additionally, the majority of the respondents referred to the "national mentality" as one of the sources of corruption in the country. This means there exists a general notion of acceptability of corruption, at least to the extent, where people perceive it as a part of their culture and something prevalent among Kazakhstani citizens. That is why there is also a need to influence this perception on both individual and collective levels by implementing nudge policies, for example. The use of warnings in public places, spreading awareness about the negative effects of corruption, and establishing rewards for personal contributions to the fight against corruption might alter people's attitudes and behavior. This would help to cultivate anti-corrupt thinking and behavior, and eradicate the tolerance of corruption on a national level.

## **RESEARCH LIMITATIONS**

The main research limitation is that we made a study on the sensitive subject for discussion that concerns the corruption practices and evaluates the corruption experience of SME owners. During the interview, some respondents were either reluctant or very cautious in talking about corruption because it is linked to criminal activities and is at risk of legal persecution. In fear of talking about corruption, some may indeed hide their true opinions and do not voice real concerns. There also could have been problems with the data provided by the World Bank BEEPS respondents, who may also be hesitant to talk about the sensitive topic of corruption and provide inaccurate information.

The other part of the problem lies in the bias of the interview sample. First, just because we employed a snowball sampling method that limits the respondents' characteristics to a certain group of people, this study lacks sample representativeness and may not accurately reflect the view of the general public. Second, as the sample size has been limited to the SMEs operating in Almaty and Nur-Sultan cities, this also incurs sampling bias because the corruption experience in these large cities might differ from the situation in other Kazakhstani cities and regions.

Finally, corruption is limited to one variable in our regression model, which is described as whether a firm perceives corruption as a major obstacle for running the business or not. However, corruption is a multidimensional phenomenon.

Despite these limitations, which cannot be overcome completely, we contend that our research contributes well to the open discussion of the corruption perception among different strata of the Kazakhstani population, and helps the government establish efficient anti-corruption strategies.

## **CONCLUSION**

Our study draws some important conclusions about the corruption impacts and corruption perception. First, in our estimation of the corruption influence on the business performance of SMEs through the regression analysis, particularly sales and employment growth, we found out that corruption negatively affects the business performance of worldwide SMEs. This goes much in line with the "Sand the wheels" theory to support the argument that corruption impedes the functioning of an enterprise. The more important conclusion is that although the corruption influence on Kazakhstani SME performance remains ambiguous, it is possible to start and grow an enterprise in Kazakhstan without being involved in corruption.

From our interviews with small- and medium-sized Kazakhstani enterprise owners, we found that enterprise owners share a negative view of the phenomenon of corruption because of its damage to the economic development and the functioning of national institutions in the country. At the same time, when asked about the influence of corruption on the business performance of SMEs, enterprise owners do not think that corruption is a severe obstacle for running an enterprise in Kazakhstan. There are at least two reasons why the corruption impact on the Kazakhstani SME performance is not considerable. First, corruption does not represent a big hurdle to the enterprise's functioning compared to the problem of extensive bureaucracy in SME activity. Second, the other important conclusion is that corruption perception is found to be biased, and does not reflect the actual corruption level in Kazakhstan. Instead, the key factors shaping individual corruption perception are collective pessimism towards Kazakhstani government officials and collective negative perceptions of government officials among the Kazakhstan general public. This brings us to the most important conclusion of this paper to suggest that Kazakhstan does well in tackling corruption at the SME level but it falls short of state-level corruption and corruption across other public sectors.

It is primarily the government officials and enterprise owners that will recognize the importance of this study as a guide for developing anti-corruption strategies and programs to build the enterprise sector free of corruption. Anti-corruption strategies are then important to strengthen Kazakhstan's institutional capacity to reduce corruption at low- and

mid-levels of the government, increase public awareness to take on social responsibility to report on corruption cases, and help the enterprise sector succeed and promote a healthy competition on the market.

## REFERENCES

- Aidis, R., Estrin, S., & Mickiewicz, T. M. (2012). Size matters: Entrepreneurial entry and government. *Small Business Economics*, 39 (1), 119–139. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-010-9299-y">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-010-9299-y</a>
- Arif, I., Khan, L., & Waqar, S. (2020). Does Corruption Sand or Grease the Wheels? A

  Case of BRICS Countries. Global Business Review. DOI:

  10.1177/0972150920927370
- Avnimelech, G., Zelekha, Y., & Sarabi, E. (2011). The Effect of Corruption on Entrepreneurship. DRUID Society. Retrieved March 10, 2022, from <a href="https://conference.druid.dk/acc\_papers/1944qlhkqrqpnsq5gmkf4yvuy4m2.pdf">https://conference.druid.dk/acc\_papers/1944qlhkqrqpnsq5gmkf4yvuy4m2.pdf</a>
- Ayandibu, A. O., & Houghton, J. (2017). The Role of Small and Medium Scale Enterprise in Local Economic Development (LED). *Journal of Business and Retail Management Research*, 11 (2), 133-139. Retrieved November 17, 2020, from <a href="https://www.jbrmr.com/cdn/article\_file/i-26\_c-262.pdf">https://www.jbrmr.com/cdn/article\_file/i-26\_c-262.pdf</a>
- Bayley, D. H. (1966). The Effects of Corruption in a Developing Nation. *The Western Political Quarterly*, 19 (4), 719. Retrieved November 2, 2020, from https://ezproxy.nu.edu.kz:2364/10.2307/445147
- Berdiev, A. N., & Saunoris, J. W. (2018). Corruption and Entrepreneurship: Cross-Country Evidence from Formal and Informal Sectors. *Southern Economic Journal*, 84 (3), 831–848. https://doi.org/10.1002/soej.12250
- Bologna, J., & Ross, A. (2015). Corruption and entrepreneurship: evidence from Brazilian municipalities. *Public Choice*, 165 (1-2), 59–77. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11127-015-0292-5">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11127-015-0292-5</a>
- Bosma, N. (2013). The Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM) and Its Impact on Entrepreneurship Research. *Foundations and Trends in Entrepreneurship*, 9 (2), 143–248. <a href="https://www.nowpublishers.com/article/DownloadSummary/ENT-033">https://www.nowpublishers.com/article/DownloadSummary/ENT-033</a>

- Budak, J., & Rajh, E. (2011). Corruption as an Obstacle for Doing Business in the Western Balkans: A Business Sector Perspective. *International Small Business Journal*, 32 (2). https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242613498882
- Campos, N. F., Dimova, R. D., & Saleh, A. (2010). Whither Corruption? A Quantitative Survey of the Literature on Corruption and Growth. IZA Discussion Paper No. 5334. Retrieved Feb 10, 2020, from <a href="https://ssrn.com/abstract=1716129">https://ssrn.com/abstract=1716129</a>
- Carr, I., & Jago, R. (2014). Petty Corruption, Development and Information Technology as an Antidote. The Round Table, 103 (5), 465-482. DOI: 10.1080/00358533.2014.966495
- Chen, C., & Cheng, S. (2019). The effects of corruption and regulation on Business Entrepreneurship: Evidence from American states. *Public Performance & Management Review*, 42(6), 1481–1506. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/15309576.2019.1574593">https://doi.org/10.1080/15309576.2019.1574593</a>
- Dreher, A., & Gassebner, M. (2013). Greasing the wheels? The impact of regulations and corruption on firm entry. *Public Choice*, *155* (3/4), 413. Retrieved October 30, 2020, from https://ezproxy.nu.edu.kz:2364/10.1007/s11127-011-9871-2
- Drury, A. C., Krieckhaus, J., & Lusztig, M. (2006). Corruption, Democracy, and Economic Growth. *International Political Science Review*, 27 (2), 121-136. Retrieved March 10, 2022, from <a href="https://www.jstor.org/stable/20445044">https://www.jstor.org/stable/20445044</a>
- Dutta, N., & Sobel, R. (2016). Does corruption ever help entrepreneurship? *Small Business Economics*, 47 (1), 179–199. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-016-9728-7">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-016-9728-7</a>
- Dvoulety, O., & Blazkova, I. (2018). Entrepreneurship and Corruption: Do Corruption

  Perceptions Influence Regional Entrepreneurial Activity?. The 12<sup>th</sup> International

  Days of Statistics and Economics, Prague, September 6-8, 2018. Retrieved October

  16, 2020, from

  <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Ondrej\_Dvoulety/publication/327136645">https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Ondrej\_Dvoulety/publication/327136645</a> Entrepreneurship and Corruption Do Corruption Perceptions Influence Regional En

- trepreneurial Activity/links/5b7bcea94585151fd1240b44/Entrepreneurship-and-Corruption-Do-Corruption-Perceptions-Influence-Regional-Entrepreneurial-Activity.pdf
- Hanoteau, J. & Vial, V. (2014). Grease or sand the wheel? The effects of individual bribe payments on aggregate productivity growth. *Journal of Indonesian Economy and Business* 29(1):1. DOI: 10.22146/jieb.6532
- Hoinaru, R., Buda, D., Borlea, S. N., Vaidean, V. L., & Achim, M. V. (2020). The Impact of Corruption and Shadow Economy on the Economic and Sustainable Development. Do They "Sand the Wheels" or "Grease the Wheels"? Sustainability, 12 (2), 481. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12020481
- Infante, D., & Smirnova, J. (2009). Rent-seeking under a weak institutional environment. *Economics Letters*, 104(3), 118–121. doi:10.1016/j.econlet.2009.04.022
- Kalyuzhnova, Y., & Belitski, M. (2019). The impact of corruption and local content policy on firm performance: Evidence from Kazakhstan. *Resources Policy*, *61*, 67–76. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2019.01.016">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2019.01.016</a>
- Khan, M., Andreoni, A., & Roy, P. (2019). *Anti-Corruption in Adverse Contexts: Strategies for Improving Implementation* (Working Paper No. 013). Centre for International Studies and Diplomacy, SOAS University of London. <a href="https://ace.soas.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/ACE-WorkingPaper013-AntiCorruptionAdverseContexts-Text-190909.pdf">https://ace.soas.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/ACE-WorkingPaper013-AntiCorruptionAdverseContexts-Text-190909.pdf</a>
- Lambert-Mogiliansky, A., Majumdar, M., & Radner, R. (2007). Strategic Analysis of Petty Corruption: Entrepreneurs and Bureaucrats. *Journal of Development Economics*, 83 (2), 351-367. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2006.06.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2006.06.002</a>
- Liu, J., Hu, M., Zhang, H., & Carrick, J. (2018). Corruption and Entrepreneurship in Emerging Markets. Emerging Markets Finance & Trade, 55 (5), 1051–1068.

  Retrieved November 10, 2020, from https://ezproxy.nu.edu.kz:2364/10.1080/1540496X.2018.1531242

- Mashali, B. (2012). Analyzing the Relationship Between Perceived Grand Corruption and Petty Corruption in Developing Countries: Case Study of Iran. International Review of Administrative Sciences, 78 (4), 775-787. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020852312455991
- Méon, P., & Sekkat, K. (2005). Does Corruption Grease or Sand the Wheels of Growth? *Public Choice*, 122 (1/2), 69. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11127-005-3988-0">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11127-005-3988-0</a>
- Méon, P. & Weill, L. (2010). Is Corruption an Efficient Grease? World Development, 38 (3), 244-259, March. Retrieved November 2, 2020, from <a href="http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0305-750X(09)00119-3">http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0305-750X(09)00119-3</a>
- Myint, U. (2000). Corruption: Causes, Consequences, and Cures. *Asia-Pacific Development Journal*, 7 (2), 33-58. Retrieved March 5, 2022. <a href="https://www.unescap.org/sites/default/d8files/apdj-7-2-2-Myint.pdf">https://www.unescap.org/sites/default/d8files/apdj-7-2-2-Myint.pdf</a>
- Ngunjiri, I. (2010). Corruption and Entrepreneurship in Kenya. *The Journal of Language, Technology & Entrepreneurship in Africa*, 2 (1), 93–106. Retrieved November 15, 2020, from <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/265401678">https://www.researchgate.net/publication/265401678</a> Corruption and Entrepreneur <a href="mailto:ship in Kenya">ship in Kenya</a>
- Obi, J., Ibidunni, A. S., Tolulope, A., Olokundun, M. A., Amaihian, A. B., Borishade, T. T., & Fred, P. (2018). Contribution of Small and Medium Enterprises to Economic Development: Evidence From a Transiting Economy. *Data in Brief, 18*, 835-839. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dib.2018.03.126">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dib.2018.03.126</a>
- Ogundiya, I. S., Olutayo, A. O., & Amzat, J. (2011). Assessment of Democratic Trends in Nigeria. Gyan Publishing House. <a href="https://books.google.kz/books?hl=ru&lr=&id=TJG2A0d438EC&oi=fnd&pg=PA19">https://books.google.kz/books?hl=ru&lr=&id=TJG2A0d438EC&oi=fnd&pg=PA19</a>
  <a href="mailto:18bdq=what+is+grease+payment&ots="bbtSZGei">1&dq=what+is+grease+payment&ots="bbtSZGei">bbtSZGei</a> &sig=k8RuklwQVH7gnoWJwK</a>
  <a href="mailto:zJ1SDGMv0&redir">zJ1SDGMv0&redir</a> esc=y#v=onepage&q&f=false

- Osuagwu, L. (2012). Conceptualization of Corruption in Business Organizations. *American International Journal of Contemporary Research*, 2 (5), 18-25. Retrieved November 21, 2020, from <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Linus Osuagwu/publication/249993689">https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Linus Osuagwu/publication/249993689</a> Osua <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Linus">https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Linus Osuagwu/publication/249993689</a> Osua <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Linus">https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Linus Osuagwu/publication/249993689</a> Osua <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Linus">https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Linus Osuagwu/publication/249993689</a> Osua <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Linus">https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Linus</a> Osuagwu-L-2012-Conceptualization-of-Conceptualization-of-Conceptualizations-Osuagwu-L-2012-Conceptualization-of-Contemporary-Research-USA-Vol-2-No-5-pp18-25.pdf</a>
- Park, H., & Lee, J. (2017). The Influence of Media, Positive Perception, and Identification on Survey-Based Measures of Corruption. *Business Ethics: A European Review, 26* (3), 312-320. Retrieved April 8, 2022, from <a href="https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/beer.12143">https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/beer.12143</a>
- Rose-Ackerman, S. (1978). Corruption: A Study in Political Economy. Yale University:

  Academic Press.

  https://books.google.kz/books?id=RVa0BQAAQBAJ&pg=PA7&lpg=PA7&dq=cor
  ruption+divergence+in+behavior&source=bl&ots=CRKQBoEhyS&sig=ACfU3U2

  VZpTF52S24rRNQ9diN\_bf9BkrFg&hl=ru&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwiBuOC5c\_2AhUmpIsKHc0QDbQQ6AF6BAgWEAM#v=onepage&q=corruption%20d
  ivergence%20in%20behavior&f=false
- Rothstein, B. (2011). Anti-Corruption: the Indirect 'Big Bang' Approach. *Review of International Political Economy*, 18 (2), 228-250, DOI: 10.1080/09692291003607834
- Sarybay, Y. (n.d.). Small Business: A Driving Force in Kazakhstan's Developing Economy.

  Edge KZ. <a href="https://www.edgekz.com/small-business-driving-force-kazakhstans-developing-economy/#:~:text=According%20to%20the%20agency's%20figures,gross%20domestic%20product%20(GDP).&text=Other%20enterprises%20make%20up%20the%2

  Oremaining%2013%20percent

- Satpayev, D. (2014). Corruption in Kazakhstan and the Quality of Governance (IDE Discussion Paper No. 475). Retrieved November 17, 2020, from <a href="https://www.liportal.de/fileadmin/user\_upload/oeffentlich/Kasachstan/20\_geschicht\_e-staat/475.pdf">https://www.liportal.de/fileadmin/user\_upload/oeffentlich/Kasachstan/20\_geschicht\_e-staat/475.pdf</a>
- Suleimenova, G., Sadvokassova, A., Rakisheva, B. & Nurmaganbetov, A. (2018). SMEs Development and Corruption: Case of Kazakhstan. *Business: Theory and Practice*, 19, 1-8. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2018.01">https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2018.01</a>
- Transparency International. (2014). *The Impact of Corruption on Growth and Inequality*.

  Retrieved March 28, 2022, from <a href="https://www.transparency.org/files/content/corruptionqas/Impact\_of\_corruption\_on\_growth\_and\_inequality\_2014.pdf">https://www.transparency.org/files/content/corruptionqas/Impact\_of\_corruption\_on\_growth\_and\_inequality\_2014.pdf</a>
- Transparency International. (n.d.). Country Data. https://www.transparency.org/en/countries/kazakhstan
- World Bank. (n.d.). *Enterprise Surveys. What Business Experience. Explore Indicators.*<a href="https://www.enterprisesurveys.org/en/enterprisesurveys">https://www.enterprisesurveys.org/en/enterprisesurveys</a>
- Xie, X., Qi, G., & Zhu, K. X. (2019). Corruption and New Product Innovation: Examining Firms' Ethical Dilemmas in Transition Economies. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *160* (1), 107. DOI: 10.1007/s10551-018-3804-7
- Zimelis, A. (2020). Corruption Research: A Need for an Integrated Approach. *International Area Studies Review*, 23 (3), 288-306. Retrieved from March 6, 2022, from <a href="https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/2233865920926778">https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/2233865920926778</a>

## **APPENDIX A**

Khan's Framework (Khan et al., 2019)

